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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2019  

[Proceeding commenced at 10:32 a.m.] 

 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Sekera versus Venetian. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Good morning, Commissioner.  Keith 

Galliher on behalf of the plaintiff. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Good morning. 

MR. ROYAL:  Mike Royal on behalf of Defendants, Your 

Honor. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right.  We have 

Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel Testimony and Documents.  The 

Countermotion to Strike False Accusations levied by Plaintiff is off 

calendar, as it does not relate to the motion under EDCR 2.20(f).  So 

I'm not going to consider the countermotion today.   

So we've got Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel Testimony and 

Defendants' Motion for Protective Order.  Where do you guys want 

to start? 

MR. ROYAL:  I'd like to start with the protective order, 

since we filed it first.  

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  I mean, I -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  Actually, I don't care.  If he wants to start, 

it's fine with me. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right.  

MR. ROYAL:  We're both going to, you know, get our -- 
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DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  We're going to get to all of 

it, so -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  We'll do what we do. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Yeah, so -- and maybe it 

would be helpful for me to start by saying Judge Delaney has 

already made specific rulings in this case that I intend to follow.  

Obviously, they were inconsistent with the rulings that I made.  But 

is -- as she is the trial judge, her rulings are, for now, the law of the 

case, and so we're going to comply with what she said. 

So with regard to Defendants’ Motion for Protective 

Order, as to Plaintiffs' Request for Production, I don't -- of the 

incident reports from May 1999 to the present, I am -- with that said, 

that we're going to follow what she's instructed, I will 

provide 2.34(e) relief if requested by Defendant to -- that you don't 

have to produce anything until it becomes an order of the Court, 

this Motion for Protective Order.   

So with that said, why don't I give you a chance to 

proceed. 

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

You've -- first of all, by -- you've indicated that we're being 

asked to produce documents from May 1999 to the present.  This is 

a slip-and-fall.  It's a very typical slip-and-fall case.  It's very simple 

negligence case.  The plaintiff worked in the Venetian premises for 

almost a year.  Prior to the incident, she walked across this area 

safely hundreds of times according to her own testimony.  She 
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never had any issues until November 4, 2016, when, according to 

her and according to her counsel, she came into contact with a 

foreign substance on the floor, which caused her to slip and fall. 

So this is a case that is -- that relates -- that arises from a 

temporary transitory condition.  She -- according to their own 

experts, the floor is safe when it's dry.  Their only issue is 

something gets introduced to it, then it becomes a slip hazard, and 

that's why they claim the plaintiff slipped and fell. 

To this point, we've produced -- we have produced 68 -- to 

my count, 66 to 68, I've -- of prior incident reports going back three 

years.  Which, by the way, we produced, which are outside the area 

of the incident.  This incident occurred in the Grand Lux area, and 

according to their expert, Tom Jennings, he is in possession of 196 

prior incidents occurring, according to his trial -- or deposition 

testimony, occurring strictly within the Grand Lux area. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All that 196 are in the 

Grand Lux area? 

MR. ROYAL:  That was his testimony.  That was his 

testimony. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  Now, he didn't produce any of the 

documents that he said that he looked at to come to that conclusion 

and to put that down in his May 30, 2019, report. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Because I thought the 196 

was a spreadsheet that you provided. 
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MR. ROYAL:  No. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  No?  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  That's not correct. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right. 

MR. ROYAL:  The -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  We -- just let me interrupt for a minute. 

We provided the spreadsheet to Mr. Jennings. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  He testified at deposition that reviewed 

the spreadsheet. 

MR. ROYAL:  Well, he testified that he got something from 

Mr. Galliher's office that he reviewed -- that he reviewed it, that he 

didn't save it, and he didn't bring it with him to his deposition.  I 

didn't have an opportunity to review it with him, because he wasn't 

clear on everything other than he said they all occurred in this area, 

in this Grand Lux area. 

Now, I subsequently got the spreadsheet from 

Mr. Galliher, looked at those 196, if you take out -- there's a whole 

bunch of duplicates and so forth from things we had already 

produced and with some -- they're not in addition to the 68, for 

example.  But I could only come up with eight that say Grand Lux -- 

that say Grand Lux.   

So I don't know where Mr. -- I don't know if he looked at a 

different list.  I don't know what information that they have.  All I'm 

saying is we have produced let's say 68 prior incident reports going 
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back three years preceding the incident, which are not limited to the 

Grand Lux area.  They are -- they go to the Grand Hall or to areas -- 

other areas on the casino level. 

They -- what they want, what they're asking for, 

essentially, is any kind of a slip-and-fall involving the marble floors 

in common areas anywhere within the property.  And we think 

that's -- we just think that's -- it's asking too much, especially when 

you're going back to 1999. 

If you -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, I'm going to limit -- if 

it'll -- I mean, I'm going to tell you this now.  I'm going to limit it to 

five years before the incident at issue. 

MR. ROYAL:  That would be -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, let me let 

Mr. Galliher speak to that, because he looks like he's about to burst.  

So -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  I'm not -- no, I'm not ready to burst. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  I am far too old to burst. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Yeah, well, obviously, we're going to 

have a problem with that order. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Because as we pointed out in our points 

and authorities, there's testimony from a casino executive at 
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Venetian, that approximately one year after the Palazzo opened, 

which would be about 2009, the Venetian actually tore up carpet on 

the floors in their casino and replaced the carpet with marble. 

So, quite obviously, if there are a number of falls before 

this happened, and we believe there are a large number of falls that 

occurred on marble floors that are wet -- and by the way, that's the 

issue here.  This is not a transient condition.  This has already been 

established in the case.  And what bothers me about the argument 

is Mr. Royal's rearguing things that have already been argued 

before the district judge, who has -- sustained, first of all, our 

Motion to Amend, to include the claim for punitive damages, and 

twice now, that decision has been attacked by Venetian.  Both times 

Judge Delaney had upheld her initial decision.  So we now have a 

viable claim for punitive damages, and she said that discovery will 

continue on the punitive damage claim.  Which is what we're trying 

to do. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  So if we can establish that the Venetian, 

when it was built in 1999, when they installed these marble floors, 

and we have a history of a large number of falls on these marble 

floors -- and by the way, the marble floors are all uniform.  There's 

no difference between the marble in the lobby versus the marble in 

the front of the Grand Lux Cafe, versus the marble in the casino.  

The marble is the same color, the same consistency, it's the same 

floor. 
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DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Did this incident occur in 

the area in front of the Grand Lux Cafe? 

MR. GALLIHER:  Yes. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  And that is a marble floor. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  And, of course, our position is that 

marble is marble, and there's no difference in the flooring.  So all 

falls that occur on these marble floors when people come into 

contact with wet substances, are relevant to the issue of punitive 

damages.  So if we are able to establish, for example, if there 

are 100, 200, 300 falls on these marble floors between 1999, when 

the hotel was built, and 2009, when the Venetian made a conscious 

decision to tear up the carpet and replace it with marble, don't you 

think that provides a predicate for punitive damages?  It shows 

conscious disregard for the safety of its customers. 

Therefore, it's not only relevant, it's clearly discoverable.  

Because we are -- we have a punitive damage claim.  The Venetian 

keeps wanting to limit us in terms of our discovery, but as we 

pointed out in our briefing punitive damage claim opens up the 

whole group of possibilities for us to try to prove our punitive 

damages, and that includes going back to the time the hotel was 

built and these floors were installed in the first place. 

But the other thing that's bothering me is that we -- the 

unredacted incident reports for the three years prior were ordered 
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by Judge Delaney back in May.  We still don't have them.  And 

we've had motion practice after motion practice, Motion to Rehear, 

Motion for Leave for -- to Rehear.  And Judge Delaney had 

remained consistent and she has said, Venetian, you need to 

produce the unredacted incident reports.  

The only thing that she said that should not be in the 

report is a date of birth and a Social Security number, and that 

information's not in the report anyway.  So we're entitled to that 

information.  It's now a filed order from Judge Delaney.  There's no 

other way for the Venetian to attack it.  So that's why it's a shame 

that we have to file a Motion to Compel after we've had a decision 

from the district judge several times now giving us the right to the 

unredacted reports. 

And the other issue, of course, is -- that we've raised, is 

that we want to do a 30(b)(6) deposition.  And we want to find out 

what the Venetian knew about the safety of its floors and when they 

knew it.  And that is relevant to the punitive damage claim. 

Just as the subsequent incident reports are relevant to the 

punitive damage claim.  We've given the Court a lot of case 

authority to support our position.  I haven't seen anything that does 

not support our position.  We've even given you a Nevada Supreme 

Court case that says subsequent incidents are relevant, not only to 

the question of notice, but certainly relevant in connection with the 

punitive damage claim. 

So I don't know, tell you the truth, I'm not sure why we're 
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here other than the fact that we keep, you know, requesting, 

requesting, requesting, and we keep getting No, we're not giving it 

to you.  No, we're not giving it to you.  File a motion, file a motion.  

So we're here. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, to the extent that you 

already had an order from Judge Delaney, rather than a Motion to 

Compel before me, I would recommend that it be refiled as -- I 

mean, you can file an order to show cause -- a Motion for an Order 

to Show Cause before the judge.  I mean, I'm not going to reverse 

Judge Delaney on matters she's already determined in this case. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Well, I'm not asking you to do that.  What 

I'm asking is -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  I know you're not. 

MR. GALLIHER:  No. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  But I'm just telling you I'm 

not going to. 

MR. GALLIHER:  No. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  She's the judge in the 

case. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Right. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  And so if she's already 

overruled my recommendation, I'm going to follow what she's 

done.  And so if you -- rather than moving --  

MR. GALLIHER:  But you can set a deadline. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  I'm sorry? 
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MR. GALLIHER:  But you can set a deadline for the 

production of the reports, which is what I'm asking you to do. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Oh, that wasn't already 

done initially? 

MR. GALLIHER:  No. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  No.  And so I'm asking you to set a 

deadline.  And certainly they produced the redacted report, so they 

have them. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  So all we're asking for is the unredacted 

reports, and I'm asking you to set a deadline, say two weeks from 

now, when these reports -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Well, now we're 

getting into the Motion to Compel. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Okay. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  I haven't given counsel an 

opportunity -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  Understood. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  -- to finish his Motion for 

Protection.  So. 

MR. GALLIHER:  I'll sit down and shut up. 

MR. ROYAL:  We were in front of Judge Delaney on 

May 14th.  She did not -- the order related to that -- his objection 

was not filed by the Court until July 31st. 
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DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, there's still an order 

that it hasn't been filed, isn't it?  From the Motion for 

Reconsideration. 

MR. ROYAL:  Well, there was -- well, I filed a Motion for 

Reconsideration on OSC.  Mr. Galliher, she set on a date -- or he -- 

they were in trial and he asked that we continue it.  So we 

continued it out for, it turned out, about 30 days.  We just had that 

hearing yesterday in front of the Court. 

And during that particular discussion or hearing, she did 

not grant leave for the consideration.  But we did -- she did suggest 

that we file a writ, which is what we are in the process of doing at 

this point. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  And so it's not as though we're -- it's not as 

though we're just defiant, you know, with respect to the district 

judge.  This was in front of the district judge yesterday.  And so 

Mr. Galliher certainly could have brought this up and had this 

discussion and asked the judge to provide a deadline yesterday.   

I would like to say, you know, something about -- 

something about these motions that have been in front of the judge 

with respect to punitive damages.  I mean, she's just -- she has just 

ruled that they were allowed to amend the complaint to add 

punitive damages claim.  She never said, has never said that this -- 

or established that this is anything other than a transient -- a 

temporary transient condition.   
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And so to the extent that counsel is suggesting that to the 

Court today, that's not correct.  She's just simply said -- Tom 

Jennings, again, their expert has said, I've got 196 incident reports 

that occurred within a four-and-a-half-year period in the Grand Lux 

area.  I'm not sure what it is, what more they need.  But there is no 

evidence that there was ever any carpet in the area of the Grand 

Lux Cafe rotunda. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  So that's not the area 

where it was ripped out. 

MR. ROYAL:  Right. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  That's correct.   

And so, further, Mr. Jennings testified he's an expert on 

another slip-and-fall case that occurred within 80 to 100 feet of this 

particular accident, also in the Grand Lux area.  He testified that his 

findings on that particular area of the marble floor were much 

different than they were on our floor.  And when I asked him about, 

Well, why would that be different?  And he gave all kinds of reasons 

from care of the floor to amount of traffic and so forth. 

So what Mr. Galliher's suggesting, that the floor's the 

same everywhere and it's going to test the same everywhere, I 

mean, that's just not -- that's not accurate. 

What we're really looking for from the Court is some 

direction, some relief, so that we can go -- for example, we had 

this 30(b)(6) -- they set this 30(b)(6) deposition with 18 topics that 
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I've gone through with the Court. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  Topics 6 to 18 all relate to management of 

the computer system going back to 1999.  What kind of -- who 

manages the system internally, externally, consultants and so forth, 

employees, who's involved with all this.  It's extremely broad. 

They -- and one of the things that I expect counsel will say 

is that, Well, we can't trust them.  We can't trust the Venetian, 

because they've withheld report, they've withheld information from 

us.  And the Court will recall that previously when they brought a 

motion, they very inaccurately represented to the Court that we did 

not disclose 65 reports over the same period of time of those 66 

and 68 reports that we previously produced.  And then they had to 

come and say -- and advise the Court, okay, we're sorry, that's not 

accurate.   

So they're not here today saying that they have any 

evidence that we're not producing documents, that we're doing 

something improper.  We have produced 68 prior incident reports 

that are outside -- that are within and outside the Grand Lux area.  

What we're asking the Court is just limit the scope in the area where 

this occurred, limit it to five years, and we're fine.  And we have no 

problem with that. 

Now, is -- with respect to some of these other things, the 

carpeting, I mean, they're asking for -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, let's go through the 
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issues and I'll give you my recommendation and if you want to both 

discuss it, we can.   

But with regard to Plaintiffs' Demand for Information 

Related to Incidents from May 1999 to the Present, I am going to 

protect that as written, but I think it's appropriate for -- given Judge 

Delaney's rulings, for Defendant to provide, from 

November 4th, 2011, to the present.  Counsel in his affidavit stated 

that there was no water at the scene.  And so I think that that -- with 

a permanent condition, which I think is, you know, if there's no 

water, it's not a transient condition, it's a permanent condition, that 

I think they're entitled to prior and subsequent.  So I think for five 

years -- 

MR. ROYAL:  But, Your Honor, that's -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  -- prior to the present time.  

MR. ROYAL:  -- that's not their claim.  Their claim is that 

there was water there.  They have a witness who says there was 

water there.  Just -- by the mere fact that we dispute their report 

doesn't mean -- I mean, the complaint itself says that there was a 

liquid substance.  That doesn't -- just because we dispute their facts 

doesn't turn it into a permanent condition.  They have a witness, 

Gary Schulman, who they -- who says, I saw it there. 

And the plaintiff, in her own deposition testimony, I 

slipped.  Not only did she slip, but her pants were wet.  So it's not 

their contention that there was nothing there.  The fact that we 

dispute it doesn't turn it into a permanent condition and certainly 
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shouldn't burden my client from having -- from now he has to 

produce subsequent incident reports. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Mr. Galliher? 

MR. GALLIHER:  My goodness, the law's so clear.  We 

have a punitive damage claim.  It needs to be recognized by 

Venetian.  It's a punitive damage claim that's going to survive up 

until the time of trial.  Now, whether it survives trial, I don't know, 

because we haven't discovered it yet.  But the case law makes it 

very clear.  Subsequent incident reports are discoverable and even 

admissible when you have a punitive damage claim.  So that 

should be the end of the argument. 

MR. ROYAL:  That -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  I'm going to -- my 

recommendation is going to be from November 4th, 2011, to the 

present, the reports.  And because Judge Delaney had -- her ruling 

has been that they be unredacted, so that's what it will be. 

With regard to number 2, Electronic Computer Data 

Information Related to Communications Pertaining to the Subject 

Floor with Consultants Other Than Experts Disclosed, Pursuant 

to 16.1.  I think that that is too vague.  I'm going to protect that as 

written.  If there's some kind of alternative -- so I'm going to grant 

the motion as to that request.   

If there's some alternative relief we can craft, I'm willing to 

entertain that, Mr. Galliher.  But I think -- I'm not even sure what 

you're asking for there.  Consulting experts, I'm not giving you that 
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information. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Understood.  And I -- we don't want 

consulting experts. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  So what -- well, because 

you said with consultants other than experts disclosed pursuant to 

NRCP 16.1.   

MR. GALLIHER:  Here’s what – 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  It sounds like you're 

asking for consulting experts. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Yeah.  Here's what we don't know.  I 

mean, we've got -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  What do you want?  And 

let's see if we can craft it -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  What I want -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Yes. 

MR. GALLIHER:  -- is this.  The Venetian, we're talking 

about what a great burden it is for the Venetian to produce this 

information.  They have a computerized system.  My recall, it's 

called Alliance.   

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  It's been identified by a PMK in a 

deposition of the Venetian.  And according to the PMK, every single 

bit of information regarding what we're looking for is contained on 

that computer system.  And it can be accessed with the push of a 

button. 
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So if that is true, we'd be -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  That seems a little 

oversimplified in my experience.  But in any event, I'm listening. 

MR. GALLIHER:  All right.  Again, I'm not a computer whiz.  

All I know is that it was -- according to this PMK person, it can be 

accessed very quickly. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  And if that's the case, I'll be more than 

happy with that information from the computer system.  And again, 

we're going to quarrel -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Regarding what?  What 

information in the computer system?  Because you've asked for 

electronic computer data information related to communications 

pertaining to the subject flooring with consultants other than 

experts disclosed pursuant to NRCP 16.1. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Well, first of all, I don't know -- when we 

talk about consultants, I do not know whether the Venetian has had 

someone examine their floors and say, Look, there's a problem with 

these floors.  I have recommendations to make concerning how we 

can make them safer.  I don't know whether that's happened, 

because that information has not been disclosed.  We've requested 

it. 

So when we talk about -- I'm not talking about consulting 

experts; I'm talking about the Venetian hiring somebody that knows 

floors to come in, look at the floors, and say, Okay, what can we do 
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improve these floors and make them safer for our customers and 

guests?  And if they haven't hired somebody to do that, very simple 

response:  We haven't hired anybody. 

If they have, that's not consulting expert stuff; that is 

simply business situation where they hired someone to look at their 

floors, and I'm entitled to find out whether that person that was 

hired came to the Venetian management and said, These marble 

floors are a problem.  I recommend either, A, they be taken out and 

replaced with something safer, or, B, there are some substances out 

there that we can use to coat the floors to make them safer.  

I don't know whether any of that's happened, because 

that's why we've made that request. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Mr. Royal? 

MR. ROYAL:  We already went through something like this 

with Mr. Elliott.  And the Court will recall that they made these kind 

of allegations that Mr. Elliott was going to provide this kind of 

testimony.  The very kind of testimony.  Then we got his deposition 

and found out that he didn't -- that that wasn't the case at all, that 

he thought the Venetian -- and this was in 2009, and he thought the 

Venetian floors were fine, were -- in fact, they were exemplary.  

That was his testimony in that particular deposition. 

I don't know what it is, necessarily, that he's asking for 

and I agree that it's vague.  I'm not aware -- I can't -- I don't know 

who to bring to put on and present. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  I'm going to protect this as 
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written.  I think it's overly vague.  If you want to depose someone, 

any -- I mean, if you want to craft something that says, like, any 

person who has knowledge that an expert told you to do X, Y, or Z 

to your floors, put -- it needs to be tailored to -- because as it's 

written, I think it's overly broad and vague, and I'm going to protect 

Number 2 as written. 

MR. GALLIHER:  We'll try to fine tune it. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  So fine tune it, try 

to work together on it. 

Number 3, Information Related to the Testing, Replacing 

Rlooring that is Not Within the Grand Lux Rotunda Area Where the 

Incident Occurred, all right.  If testing occurred in the Grand Lux 

area anytime between 2011 to the present, I'm going to allow it.  

But not if it's in an area that's not at issue in this litigation. 

MR. GALLIHER:  So that would include all the remaining 

marble floors at the Venetian? 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Yes.  

MR. GALLIHER:  Okay. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  I think any testing that was 

done in the Grand Lux area for -- be prepared to testify regarding 

any testing that was done in the Grand Lux area from 2011 – I’m 

sorry, till 2016. 

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  Testing done from November 4, 2011 

to -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  To the date of the incident 

VEN 2491



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
21 

 
Shawna Ortega ▪ CET-562 ▪ Certified Electronic Transcriber ▪ 602.412.7667 

 
Case No. A-18-772761-C 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

at issue. 

MR. ROYAL:  And -- okay.  And I want to make sure I'm 

clear on the record, it's the Grand Lux area? 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, what are -- where -- 

the incident area, is that the -- 

MR. ROYAL:  That's the -- it's called the Grand Lux 

rotunda. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  The Grand Lux 

rotunda.  Anything that was done in that area.  Okay?  

Information About Casino Flooring Changes on or 

About 2008 Which Did Not -- okay.  And Defendant's position is that 

this did not impact the subject area.  If there were not -- if there 

were not changes made -- were there any changes made to the area 

where the impact -- or where the incident occurred? 

MR. GALLIHER:  We don't know that yet, because we 

haven't been able to depose the person to find out exactly where 

the carpet was taken up and the marble was replaced. 

MR. ROYAL:  There's no testimony whatsoever that there 

was ever any carpeting in the Grand Lux rotunda.  It's always been 

marble.  The testimony he's referring to is testimony by someone 

who worked in the casino area.  This is not the casino area.  This is 

the Grand Lux rotunda. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  I think that that's 

better.  I'm going to protect that.  I think that a better way to get at 

that discovery would be to ask questions regarding whether the 
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area at issue had ever been remodeled or had ever previously had 

carpet in it.  So I'm going to protect 4. 

Number 5, there is no -- I'm going to allow -- because 

discovery has already included reports -- so this is dealing with an 

order limiting the scope of Plaintiffs’ discovery to the Grand Lux 

rotunda area where the subject incident occurred.  I am going to 

allow any prior or subsequent reports that deal with slips and falls 

on the marble flooring. 

MR. ROYAL:  Within the Grand Lux area? 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Within -- I'm going to let 

Mr. Galliher speak to that. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Well, as I -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  They've already been 

produced.  I mean, the documents have already been produced -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  Yes. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  -- to my understanding. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Some of them have.  And we -- we're not 

sure how many more exist.  But, certainly, we have requested all of 

the others, however many there may be.  And the documents that 

have been produced already include slips and falls on marble 

flooring. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  And that's exactly what we're looking for. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  And that's what the prior 

ruling was in this case.  So I am going to allow it to be any incident 
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reports -- limited to the five years prior, going backwards, any 

incident -- prior incident reports five years prior to the present time 

for slips and falls on marble flooring at the Venetian. 

MR. ROYAL:  Well, Your Honor, I want to make sure I'm 

clear.  I thought your initial order was that it was limited to the 

Grand Lux area.  And this -- what you just said is all encompassing 

of the entire property. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Yeah.  To the 

Grand -- I'm sorry, to the Grand Lux rotunda. 

MR. GALLIHER:  So you're not going to give us the reports 

regarding all of the other marble flooring? 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Just to the area, to this 

Grand Lux marble flooring.  I think that that's -- but you've 

already -- my understanding is you've already were produced the 

reports -- 

MR. ROYAL:  We -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  -- for all the marble 

flooring. 

MR. GALLIHER:  They have.  Well -- 

MR. ROYAL:  Well -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  -- we don't know what they produced, but 

they produced floor falls -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, that was -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  -- in other areas of the hotel on marble 

flooring. 
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MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  Your Honor, they're asking for -- 

again, they claim to have 106 -- 90 -- 196 prior incident reports over 

a five-year period for just the Grand Lux.  Okay.  So we're saying 

okay, that's fine.  We'll go through and we'll find whatever we can, 

going back five years for the Grand Lux area. 

The fact is that when we initially -- when we initially did 

this, we limited it to the casino level.  And -- but, Your Honor, 

we've -- since then -- since then, Mr. Jennings has testified that his 

testing outside the Grand Lux area was way different than what we 

found in the Grand Lux area.  And so we're just asking the Court to 

limit it.  To limit it to five years within the Grand Lux area, the 

marble flooring there, and just -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  So Jennings has already -- 

their expert has already said that the testing is different in the 

Grand Lux area than the other areas of the marble flooring casinos? 

MR. ROYAL:  Than in other area of the marble floor, that's 

correct. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Yeah.  We're not in agreement with that.  

And unless -- it's interesting how this continues to be discussed.  

But Mr. Jennings made it very clear that he reviewed summaries of  

reports.  And it was his understanding that the summary reports 

had to do with the Grand Lux area; they don't.  He is now in the 

possession of the reports that have been produced, so he actually 

sees the actual reports, but he made it very clear.  I reviewed his 

summary. 

VEN 2495



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
25 

 
Shawna Ortega ▪ CET-562 ▪ Certified Electronic Transcriber ▪ 602.412.7667 

 
Case No. A-18-772761-C 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right. 

MR. GALLIHER:  And he's going to clarify that. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  The original 

recommendation was that -- the one that was objected to, and then 

Judge Delaney changed it to be unredacted, didn't that include all 

slips and falls on all marble flooring on the casino level? 

MR. GALLIHER:  It did. 

MR. ROYAL:  No, it did not, Your Honor. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Oh, it did too. 

MR. ROYAL:  Your Honor, I'd have to -- you know, I'd -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right.  I'm going to pull 

it up.  Just a second.  Because I'm not reversing what we've already 

decided. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Well, we wanted the reports -- we wanted 

the unredacted reports that were produced to us redacted, and 

those included falls on the casino floor. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Because I'm not changing 

from -- we're not rehashing what's already been decided in this 

case. 

MR. ROYAL:  Well, Your Honor, I'm not asking you to do 

that.  Because what he's asking for now is in addition to what we 

previously produced.  And we previously produced three years' 

worth of documents to counsel.  They were redacted. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Which now need to be 

unredacted -- 
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MR. ROYAL:  That's correct. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  -- pursuant to what Judge 

Delaney has ordered. 

MR. ROYAL:  That's correct.  But now he's asking for 

something in addition.  He's asking for another two years' of 

documents and we're asking the Court to limit that.  That's a new 

ruling that has not been ruled on by this -- by the discovery 

commissioner or considered by the district court.  So we're asking 

that -- and now, Your Honor, you're also ordering that we produce 

not just two years before, but then everything up to the present.  

And so that's new. 

And so we're asking you to limit it to the Grand Lux area.  

And that would not be in any way -- it shouldn't have any impact on 

what you ordered previously as it relates to that three-year period. 

MR. GALLIHER:  And, of course, we respectfully disagree, 

because it should be -- we should have the order include all the 

marble flooring at the ground level at the Venetian, which is what 

was produced in the first place by the defense. 

MR. ROYAL:  And, by the way, they've never requested 

that.  They've never had that specific request.  

MR. GALLIHER:  Actually, we have. 

MR. ROYAL:  We provided that -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  Many times. 

MR. ROYAL:  -- as a courtesy.  What they asked for was 

everything within the property. 
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DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  All right.  I'm going 

to limit it to the casino floor.  That's -- the Grand Lux is on the 

casino floor, correct? 

MR. GALLIHER:  Yes. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  I'm going to limit it 

to any slip-and-falls on the marble flooring on the casino level, five 

years prior to the present, and pursuant to Judge Delaney's ruling, 

unredacted.  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  Just -- Your Honor, can I just ask for 

clarification --  

Can I? 

MR. GALLIHER:  You -- go ahead. 

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  Thank you. 

For clarification, the subsequent incidents that are being 

ordered that -- to be produced, is that based upon their punitive 

damages claim or is it based upon the Court's determination that 

it's -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  The punitive damages 

claim. 

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  All right. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Which is still pending.  Is it 

still active -- an active claim? 

MR. GALLIHER:  Yes.  It survived two challenges from the 

Venetian.  The claim is still alive for sure. 

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  It's a punitive damages claim based 
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on a negligence action of a temporary transient condition.  I just 

want to make sure that's clear in front of the Court.  This is not a 

products case, this is not a permanent condition-type case, this is a 

temporary transitory condition.  So I just want to make sure that's 

clear.  

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, I think it's unclear.  

Because you're saying that the slip-and-fall was on the flooring, 

you're saying with no water, they're saying there is water.  I mean, 

you've -- 

MR. ROYAL:  But it's -- but, Your Honor, their complaint, 

the complaint does not even make the allegation this is a 

permanent condition.  It is a slip-and-fall.  It is a foreign substance 

on the floor.  The fact -- again, we dispute facts -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Which you dispute that 

there was.  So you're saying she slipped and fell on the perfectly 

dry floor, is that you're saying. 

MR. ROYAL:  I'm saying she slipped and fell for some 

reason other than, you know, I don't know why she slipped and fell.  

But -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, your affidavit said 

there was no foreign substance on the floor. 

MR. ROYAL:  Well, that's my opinion.  But their experts 

have both testified that there was a foreign substance on the floor, 

Your Honor, both of them.  And, in fact, their testimony has been -- 

Dr. Baker and Mr.  Jennings both said there absolutely was 
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something on the floor.  There had to be something on the floor.  

That's their position. 

And so for counsel -- I just want to make sure it's very 

clear to the Court that this is an incident based upon their allegation 

that it's a foreign substance that caused her to slip and fall.  She 

walked through that area hundreds of -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, I think it's your 

affidavit that's conflated the issue.  Because you're saying there 

absolutely wasn't a foreign substance on the floor, which makes 

that, then you're saying she slipped and fell on the way it is all the 

time. 

MR. ROYAL:  I -- what I've said, Your Honor, it's -- there is 

a disagreement, there's a dispute in the facts.  They've got an 

eyewitness.  The first person who was there on the scene who said 

there was a big puddle of water.  That's his testimony.  That's 

Mr. Schulman's testimony.  So we can't just pretend that that 

doesn't exist because we dispute the facts. 

And so this is a case based upon a foreign substance.  I 

just want to make it very clear that that is their claim, that's what 

their experts say, that's what their star witness says, that's what the 

plaintiff says.  The fact that we dispute it doesn't transform it into a 

permanent condition or nor should it entitle them to subsequent 

incident reports. 

I just want to make that clear, that's all. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Mr. Galliher? 
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MR. GALLIHER:  Well, what's he's doing is misleading.  

Because, the bottom line is that -- you saw Commissioner Bulla's 

prior ruling against the Venetian, and she recognized, correctly, this 

is a continuing hazard.  This is not a transitory condition; that's 

Mr. Royal's spin on it.  The bottom line -- and -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, he's saying it's not a 

transient condition -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  Well, but -- well, he is in his affidavit -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  -- because there was 

nothing there. 

MR. GALLIHER:  -- but -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  You're the one who's 

saying it is a transient condition. 

MR. GALLIHER:  No, no. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  It's a little confusing.  

Usually, the defendant -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  That's not what I'm saying.  I'm saying 

it's not a transient condition.  It's a continuous hazard. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  But you're saying there 

was water present, which is a transient condition. 

MR. GALLIHER:  But he's -- well, it's not a transient 

condition if it's on an inherently dangerous floor.  That's entirely 

different, as Commissioner Bulla recognized.  That's not the same 

thing.  And, by the way, Judge Delaney -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, I disagree. 
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MR. GALLIHER:  -- recognized it, as well. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  I disagree. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Well -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  In my mind, if there's 

water present, it's a transient condition.  If someone slips and falls 

on a floor that you're saying is always dangerous, whether it's dry, 

wet -- when it's dry, then that would be a different conversation 

we're having. 

MR. GALLIHER:  But we're not saying that, and we haven't 

said that.  That's what Mr. Royal just said in his affidavit. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Mr. Royal's saying it. 

MR. GALLIHER:  I know. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Which is making this -- 

that's what's conflating the whole issue. 

MR. GALLIHER:  It -- well, that much I understand.  Bottom 

line is that he's also presented his share of Venetian employees 

who have testified that the floor was dry.  So, all right, so we have a 

contested issue.  It's a jury argument.  That's what it is.  It's 

something we present at trial.  But it should not affect our ability to 

discover our case.  And that's what we're doing at this juncture, 

we're trying to discover the case, particularly our punitive damage 

claim, and we've cited cases all over the place in our motion 

practice that supports what we're doing here. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Mr. Royal? 

MR. ROYAL:  The plaintiff says it's -- it was due to a 
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foreign substance in the complaint.  Even in the amended 

complaint it says that she slipped and fell due to a foreign 

substance.  She testified she slipped and fell due to a foreign 

substance. 

Other witnesses at the scene, Mr. Schulman, testified he 

saw -- he is the one person who did see it, and that's his testimony.  

And so, you know, I have a right to dispute the facts, Your Honor, 

but their own experts say there was water on the floor.  And that's 

what caused the fall. 

They didn't say -- they haven't testified that this is a 

dangerous floor that caused her to fall because it was dry; they say 

she slipped and fell because it was wet. 

Mr. Jennings actually testified it's a safe floor when it's 

dry.  He tested it that way.  It doesn't become dangerous, in his 

opinion, until it becomes wet.  That is the -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  And therefore, it is a temporary transitory 

condition.  That's the issue. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  But the punitive damage 

claims -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  I'm not going to bounce up and down. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  The punitive damage -- 

you guys can stay seated -- the punitive damage claim is still at 

issue.  And because of the punitive damage claim, I'm going to 

allow the subsequent reports.  
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MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  Thank you.  

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right.  You’re 

requesting protection -- no, you're moving for an order, Defendants, 

directing Plaintiff to produce all information of prior incidents 

provided to Tom Jennings.  Hasn't he already provided the 

e-mailed spreadsheets -- the e-mailed spreadsheet that he 

reviewed? 

MR. ROYAL:  The e-mails -- what I received was not what 

Mr. Jennings described.  That's all.  That's not what he described. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  

MR. GALLIHER:  I don't agree with that. 

MR. ROYAL:  Well, you weren’t at the deposition -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Then I'm -- Tom 

Jennings is directed to produce all information of prior incidents 

that were provided to him and he reviewed prior to issuing his 

opinions. 

MR. GALLIHER:  And we have no problem with that. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Defendants are 

moving for an order that Plaintiff provide copies of all prior 

incidents reports in her possession not produced to Defendants.   

Counsel? 

MR. ROYAL:  They've got this -- they've got these 196 

reports, they produced those to the expert -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Do you have 196 reports, 

Mr. -- 
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MR. GALLIHER:  No, actually, we don't. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  -- Galliher? 

MR. GALLIHER:  We have quite a few reports we've 

collected in the case from other counsel, as well.  We don't have all 

of those 196, because I understand from Mr. Bochanis’s office that 

he may not have been able to give those to us.  So we don't have 

all of them.   

However, these are the Venetian's reports. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  So are they asking us to -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  But if you're using them 

for impeachment purposes, I mean, you have them.  If you have 

them, produce them to Defendants. 

MR. GALLIHER:  We'll be happy to do that. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. GALLIHER:  But again, that was not the -- from our 

standpoint, Commissioner, that was not a problem.  We can 

produce what we have. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right. 

MR. GALLIHER:  But we pointed out that Venetian, 

basically, is asking us to produce the reports that they produced in 

other litigation. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, any reports, any 

prior incident reports in Defendant -- I'm sorry, in Plaintiffs' 

possession must be produced to Defendants. 
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And Number 8, Defendants are -- that's on my list, 

anyway.  I don't know if it's Number 8 on yours.  My -- I have 

written down, For Leave to Retake Mr. Jennings' Deposition for One 

Hour, With Plaintiff Bearing All Costs.  That's quite an ask. 

Mr. Royal? 

MR. ROYAL:  I only want that because he didn't have 

that -- any of that information present.  I wasn't able to 

cross-examine him on these prior incidents. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  Which is a big deal.  I mean, he claims they 

were all there in the Grand Lux area, 196.  And I ask him -- I ask him, 

you know, How did you receive them?  What did they look like?  I 

would just like to be able to finish – to complete my examination of 

Mr. Jennings, which I could have done at the time had it been 

produced. 

MR. GALLIHER:  And I have no problem with the 

deposition.  But I do have a problem with having to pay for the 

deposition, because we didn't anything wrong. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  I -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  And of the 30(d)(2), they have not met the 

standard. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  I am going to allow the 

deposition to continue.  I am not going to require Plaintiffs to pay 

for it, because if you had been able to continue, you would have 

had to pay for the continued time.  So there's really no prejudice to 
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the defendant for having you pay for the deposition to go forward.  

Have we addressed everything now in your Motion for 

Protective Order and Motion to Compel?  

MR. ROYAL:  Well, we have -- and I may have missed this.  

The Topics 6 through 18 all relate to the computer data. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  What day was that 

filed?  I have to pull it up on here.  So which date was your motion 

filed?  This -- let's see. 

MR. ROYAL:  It was filed August 5th, 2019. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Let me just pull it up so I 

can look at the topics.  Okay.  And what page is that on? 

[Pause in proceedings.] 

MR. ROYAL:  Excuse me. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Or -- it's an exhibit?  

Page 22 of the motion?   

[Pause in proceedings.] 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  I see it.  I'm here 

now.  6 through 18. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Is that where we are, page 22? 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right.  So -- 

MR. ROYAL:  I'm there.  I'm sorry. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  The identity -- okay.  

Page -- I'm sorry, page 22:  

The identity of all employees who were responsible for 

managing and maintaining Venetian's technology 
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infrastructure. 

I think that's overly broad.  The technology infrastructure 

at the Venetian has far more components, I'm certain, than the 

communications area of the -- like, employee communications.  

What is it you're actually looking for?  Because their technology 

includes all of their security, all of their financial stuff, like, this 

needs to be tailored.   

So Topic Number 6 -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  Might I suggest this -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Yes. 

MR. GALLIHER:  -- Commissioner, maybe to shortcut 

things with -- what we're really interested in is the information 

contained on the computerized Alliance system that the Venetian 

maintains.  All of this -- of the other topics here pertain to us trying 

to verify that information.  But I'm more than happy with simply an 

order that they produce the information on their Alliance system, 

by -- which, by the way, relates strictly to fall injury events or injury 

events. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  So is the Alliance system 

their claims log system, for lack of a better word?  Like how they -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  That's -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  -- how they document 

injury incident claims in the casinos? 

MR. GALLIHER:  That's my understanding.  And it contains 

relevant information concerning those falls.  It may even contain 

VEN 2508



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
38 

 
Shawna Ortega ▪ CET-562 ▪ Certified Electronic Transcriber ▪ 602.412.7667 

 
Case No. A-18-772761-C 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

copies of the reports. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  So whey don't we 

just tailor it to be able to question the 30(b)(6) witness who has 

knowledge regarding the documenting of injuries and claims that 

occur in the Venetian casino property. 

MR. GALLIHER:  I'm fine with that. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  And how those are 

electronically stored and can be searched and obtained.  Is that 

what you're looking for? 

MR. GALLIHER:  That's what I'm looking for. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Does that take care 

of all of these different -- 6 through 18, if that's the topic? 

MR. GALLIHER:  It does.  It's actually a better idea than we 

had. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, I'm here to help. 

MR. ROYAL:  Yeah, as long as we're going to -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  If we're limiting it -- 

MR. ROYAL:  Are we going to limit it -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  We're limiting it to the 

person -- the 30(b)(6) witness who has knowledge of how the claims 

are reported, claims and injuries in the casino, the Venetian casino 

property are reported, documented, stored electronically, how they 

can be retrieved and identified.  Does that cover it? 

MR. GALLIHER:  Yes.  And hopefully there'll be a 

transcript, since my note-taking isn't so good. 
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MR. ROYAL:  Your Honor -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  And that will replace 

Topics 6 through 18. 

MR. ROYAL:  Right. 

MR. GALLIHER:  We're fine with that. 

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  And that works.  Do we have a 

specified period of time? 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  The specified period of 

time would be five years prior to the incident to the present.  Okay.  

Does that cover everything then? 

MR. GALLIHER:  I think it does. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right.  Now we just 

have one more motion, right?  Or are we -- is this -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  I think it -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  We covered everything in 

your -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  I think it covered our Motion to Compel, 

as well.  

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  -- Motion to Compel? 

MR. GALLIHER:  Sure.  I think it covered that as well. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay.  Because -- pursuant 

to -- this was the Motion to Compel Testimony and Documents, 

Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel.  So just so we're clear on Defendants’ 

Motion for Protective Order is granted in part, denied in part as 

stated.   
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And with regard to Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel Testimony 

and Documents, it's granted in part, denied in part.  The judge has 

already -- the three main issues in that motion were the prior 

unredacted incident reports, which Judge Delaney has already 

determined, so those will be -- will be allowed.   

The 30(b)(6) we've handled, and the subsequent incident 

reports we've handled.  So that should take care of all of the Motion 

to Compel. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Yes.  The only other thing I'd ask is can 

we still have, like, a two-week deadline to produce the unredacted 

reports? 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Well, I'm going to provide 

alternative relief pursuant to EDCR 2.34(e) to Mr. Royal, because 

he's waiting from a final -- for a final order from Judge Delaney 

from yesterday, I believe.  And so I'm going to provide him relief 

that those do not need to be produced until it has become a final 

order.  That may be after a writ, since he intends to -- he's already 

articulated that he intends to take it up. 

But pursuant to 2.34, he does not need to produce it until 

that has become a final order. 

MR. GALLIHER:  So can we have a date, then, after the 

order is signed? 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Two weeks after the order 

is signed. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Okay.  
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DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  And the writ would stay 

that period of time. 

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  Now, this is my last clarification, I 

want to make sure. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Okay. 

MR. ROYAL:  So it's five years to the present, casino level, 

marble floors, and not limited to the Grand Lux. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Yes. 

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  And -- 

MR. GALLIHER:  Unredacted. 

MR. ROYAL:  Right.  Unredacted. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Unredacted. 

MR. ROYAL:  And the -- and we're going -- the subsequent 

incidents are because even if this is a transitory -- temporary 

transitory condition, he's got a punitive damage claim, and 

therefore, those are to be produced. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  The transitory, I would not 

allow them, but because of the punitive allegations that have not -- 

that have survived now two Motions to Dismiss, I'm going to allow. 

MR. ROYAL:  I understand.  Okay.   

And to the -- is this an ongoing duty?  Do we have to -- I 

mean, when -- it says to the present, is it as of today?  Is this going 

to go on through trial?  Do I have to keep supplementing this 

response? 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  I think -- I would say 
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through today is probably -- or through the date of the production is 

probably sufficient. 

MR. GALLIHER:  And I'll -- I'm okay with through the date 

of production. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  All right.  

MR. ROYAL:  Thank you. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Thank you. 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  Thank you.  Have a great 

day, both of you. 

MR. ROYAL:  So Mr. Galliher will prepare or -- did I -- I'm 

sorry, I totally missed that.  Who's -- 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  You know, I didn't say.  

You know, since his is really all part of yours, I'm going to say -- I'm 

going to ask you, Mr. Royal, to prepare the report and 

recommendation.   

MR. ROYAL:  Okay.  Thank you. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  And please have that 

submitted to Mr. Galliher for his review as to form and content and 

have it submitted to me within 14 days. 

MR. GALLIHER:  Thank you.  

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER:  I am -- thank you.  

[Proceeding concluded at 11:18 a.m.] 

/ / / 
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  1   occur when coefficient of friction was above .50?

  2       A.   Well, I believe I've talked with counsel about

  3   that following the result of the testing, that there are

  4   multiple reasons why people lose their balance and

  5   suddenly fall.

  6            The layperson usually attributes it to a slip

  7   when, in fact, it is everything from a misstep to a

  8   scuff slip to a change of directional slip.  All produce

  9   something similar to a slip.  But it wasn't due to the

 10   fact that the walking surface fell below the standard

 11   for a slip-resistant walking surface.

 12       Q.   Okay.  In those cases?

 13       A.   In those cases.

 14       Q.   Let me ask you about some of the other cases

 15   you've had.

 16            Peter Goldstein -- or is it Goldberg?

 17       A.   Goldstein.

 18       Q.   Peter Goldstein, you're presently a retained

 19   expert in a case he's handling against the Venetian?

 20       A.   Yes, sir.

 21       Q.   The plaintiff's name is Carol Smith?

 22       A.   Yes, sir.

 23       Q.   You've been deposed in that case?

 24       A.   Yes.

 25       Q.   You have done an inspection in that case?
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  1       A.   Yes.

  2       Q.   And you've prepared reports in that case?

  3       A.   Yes, sir.

  4       Q.   Okay.  How many times have you been retained by

  5   Peter Goldstein in any cases against the Venetian?

  6       A.   Would be the first, I believe.

  7       Q.   Okay.  How many cases with Peter Goldstein

  8   total where he's retained you as an expert?

  9       A.   Two or three over a 15-year period.

 10       Q.   Okay.  And do they all relate to slip-and-falls

 11   or do they have various fact scenarios?

 12       A.   Good question, and I can't honestly recall.

 13       Q.   What other attorneys have you worked with on

 14   the plaintiff side in any cases you've handled against

 15   the Venetian?  Let's just keep it related to marble

 16   floors.

 17       A.   Well, that would simply be Mr. Goldstein, as I

 18   recall, and Mr. Galliher.  I've only done the two on

 19   that.

 20       Q.   Okay.  So you've done two -- so you've been

 21   retained as an expert for the plaintiff in two cases

 22   against the Venetian related to slip-and-falls on marble

 23   floors?

 24       A.   Best of my recollection, that's correct.

 25       Q.   Okay.  And you don't recall being retained by
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  1       A.   Correct.

  2       Q.   Now, you did test it at .40 at least one

  3   direction; correct?

  4       A.   Correct.

  5       Q.   And according to the study that we just

  6   reviewed, in the 1983 study, .40 would have been -- at

  7   least they determined to be adequate; correct?

  8       A.   Under controlled conditions.

  9       Q.   Got it.  Okay.

 10            Now, let me ask you about the Smith case.

 11            Where did the slip-and-fall occur in Smith,

 12   because I'm not actually familiar with that?

 13            The Carol Smith case versus Venetian.

 14       A.   Oh, I believe it was over by the escalator to

 15   the right -- you know the escalator where you come down

 16   from the upper level?

 17       Q.   Yes.

 18            Well, is this from the parking garage?

 19       A.   Yes.

 20       Q.   Okay.  So I'm going to ask you a few landmarks.

 21            Do you know where the JuiceFarm is, the Bouchon

 22   Bakery?

 23       A.   You're testing my memory.  I don't pay

 24   attention to the occupancy by name.

 25       Q.   The reason I ask is because you make reference
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  1   to -- on page 3 of your report, you say, "Food courts,

  2   cafés, coffee bars, and other operations" --

  3       A.   Right.

  4       Q.   -- "that dispense beverages."

  5            I'm wondering, did you observe that or were you

  6   told that information?

  7       A.   No, no, no.  I've observed that.  I've been to

  8   that property multiple times.  I can't tell you the

  9   names of all those.

 10       Q.   Okay.  All right.  I got it.

 11            You just say this happened -- the Carol Smith

 12   slip-and-fall you say happened somewhere around the base

 13   of the escalator that comes down from the parking garage

 14   escalator in the Venetian?

 15       A.   If you went down to the base of the escalator

 16   and turned right and then you walked a little bit

 17   towards the -- they have, like, a coffee bar that sits

 18   sort of behind the escalator, then there's, like, a

 19   little general store at the back, it would be right in

 20   that general vicinity as I recall the location.

 21       Q.   There's a shoe shine place there.

 22            Do you remember that?

 23       A.   I do.

 24       Q.   Is that -- was it near the shoe shine place?

 25       A.   Near, but near to me is...

VEN 2579



Thomas A. Jennings Joyce Sekera v. Venetian Casino Resort, LLC d/b/a The Venetian Las Vegas, et al.

702-476-4500 OASIS REPORTING SERVICES, LLC Page: 72

  1       Q.   Okay.  Is it between the shoe shine place and

  2   the entry to the gift shop?

  3       A.   Approximately.  That's close.

  4       Q.   Okay.  So this would be maybe -- would it be,

  5   like, 100 feet or so away from the slip-and-fall that

  6   occurred in the Sekera case?

  7       A.   It's reasonable.  Close.

  8       Q.   So the Smith case did not happen in the Grand

  9   Lux rotunda?

 10       A.   The same area where we're here today?

 11       Q.   Right.

 12       A.   No.

 13       Q.   Now, my understanding is when you did the dry

 14   test of the Smith case, it was .90 coefficient of

 15   friction?

 16       A.   Correct.

 17       Q.   When you did the wet test, it was .40

 18   coefficient of friction?

 19       A.   Correct.

 20       Q.   Okay.  And any explanation as to why it would

 21   be different -- your testing would be different in the

 22   Smith case versus the Sekera case?

 23       A.   Well --

 24            MR. KUNZ:  Speculation.

 25            Go ahead.
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  1            THE WITNESS:  From an engineering standpoint,

  2   sure, there's possibilities that can explain that.

  3   Mostly it would be:  Is this area more transited by

  4   pedestrian traffic than the Sekera incident?  Was the

  5   floor application put on by Venetian at the same level

  6   in that case as in this case?

  7            So, yeah, there's multiple possibilities as to

  8   why you would have a discrepancy between 0.4 and 0.33.

  9   Frankly, it's not that far off.

 10   BY MR. ROYAL:

 11       Q.   Okay.  Now, you talk about floor applications,

 12   and you make mention of that on page 2 of your initial

 13   report?

 14       A.   Yes.

 15       Q.   You don't identify the floor applications

 16   specifically.

 17            What floor applications are you talking about?

 18       A.   There are a number of commercial products by

 19   the dozen that can be applied to any walking surface

 20   that will increase the slip resistance level to 0.5 or

 21   higher.  And depending on the product, it will retain

 22   that level even with a heavy volume of pedestrian

 23   traffic.  It depends on the volume of traffic, it

 24   depends on the surface to which it's being applied, but

 25   there are those products out there.  There's numbers of
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  1       A.   It tells us that the English XL Tribometer, or

  2   the XL Tribometer as it's called, is a recognized valid

  3   instrument for slip resistance testing.

  4       Q.   I looked at that and maybe I missed it.  I

  5   didn't see that particular equipment identified

  6   specifically there.

  7            Is it or is it just about calibration?

  8       A.   No, no, no.  F2508-11 is about the validation

  9   of variable instrument tribometers as an objective

 10   testing instrument for slip resistance.  There's a

 11   history behind all of that, which I think you're

 12   probably aware of that.

 13       Q.   I wanted to ask you about -- can you just tell

 14   me, what's the DCOF versus the SCOF?

 15       A.   DCOF is the dynamic coefficient of friction and

 16   SCOF is the static coefficient of friction.  The

 17   difference between the two is static coefficient of

 18   friction is the amount of force necessary to incipiate

 19   [sic] motion across the surface.

 20            A dynamic coefficient of friction is the amount

 21   of force necessary to continue motion across the

 22   surface.  Quite different.

 23       Q.   Okay.  Which one applies here?

 24       A.   Static coefficient of friction.

 25       Q.   And explain why that is.
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  1       A.   Because most heels slip first, simply cases of

  2   a walking surface not having the appropriate level of

  3   slip resistance to prevent a sudden slip.

  4            And dynamic friction slip-and-falls would mean

  5   that you're on a sheet of ice and you're sort of skating

  6   across and you ultimately lose your balance and fall.

  7            All studies that I have reviewed and all

  8   lectures I've attended through every engineering course

  9   at every school, static coefficient of friction is the

 10   primary -- in fact, 90-some percent cause of slips and

 11   falls, not dynamic friction.

 12       Q.   I'm just looking at an article from 2008 that

 13   makes reference to the dynamic coefficient of friction

 14   with a -- they have a wet value of .42 or greater

 15   coefficient of friction.

 16            What would that relate to?

 17       A.   To me, that is a dynamic friction level.  How

 18   they got it, what they used, how many tests did they

 19   provide, what was the surface, you really can't compare

 20   dynamic coefficient of friction and static coefficient

 21   of friction mathematically or in terms of reliability in

 22   predicting slip-and-fall events.  They are two

 23   completely different physical efforts.

 24       Q.   Are you aware of the .42 coefficient of

 25   friction recommended level for flooring related to the
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  1   dynamic coefficient of friction that's been -- they make

  2   reference to a 2014 --

  3       A.   Yes.  I have seen multiple articles like that,

  4   but, again, that presumes that someone is sliding across

  5   the floor and then proceeds to slip.  No relation to

  6   static friction.

  7       Q.   Okay.  All right.  Let's go to the last page of

  8   your May 30th, 2019, report.  Look at the last

  9   paragraph.

 10       A.   Yes, sir.

 11       Q.   It reads, "It should also be noted that the

 12   Venetian Hotel Casino has experienced 196 slip-and-fall

 13   events between January 1st, 2012, to August 5th, 2016,

 14   with the majority of those events occurring on the

 15   marble flooring within the same approximate area as

 16   plaintiff's slip-and-fall."

 17            Did I read that correctly?

 18       A.   You did.

 19       Q.   What information are you drawing from?

 20       A.   I'm drawing from -- and this is post-December

 21   report.  And everything that I base my initial opinions

 22   and conclusions are based on the materials sent to me at

 23   that time.

 24            When I prepared this report, I was provided by

 25   Mr. Galliher's office a spreadsheet, a run sheet of
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  1   slip-and-fall events within that referenced time period

  2   at that same approximate area as Plaintiff's

  3   slip-and-fall.

  4       Q.   Did you bring that with you today?

  5       A.   I don't believe so.  It was sent to me via an

  6   e-mail.

  7       Q.   Okay.  If you relied on that, why didn't you

  8   make reference to that document, that information at the

  9   outset of your report of May 30th, 2019?

 10       A.   Just seemed the appropriate place to put it was

 11   at the end of the report.

 12       Q.   I mean, this is a rebuttal report.

 13       A.   Yes.

 14       Q.   And so as a rebuttal report, it is intended to

 15   rebut, as you're understanding --

 16       A.   Yes.

 17       Q.   -- opinions provided by Dr. Hayes; correct?

 18       A.   Yes.

 19       Q.   This information of 196 slip-and-fall events

 20   was not provided in Dr. Hayes' initial report; correct?

 21   That's not where you got the information?

 22       A.   Correct.  That is true.

 23       Q.   This is additional information that you

 24   received from Mr. Galliher; correct?

 25       A.   Yes, sir.
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  1       Q.   You didn't look at the actual reports, you just

  2   saw a spreadsheet?

  3       A.   Correct.

  4       Q.   Is that a spreadsheet that you can produce?

  5   You can produce it, right, after this deposition today?

  6       A.   If it has not auto-erased itself, yes, sir, I

  7   can do that.

  8       Q.   Okay.  I'm going to ask you to do that --

  9       A.   Okay.

 10       Q.   -- since it's referenced in your report.

 11       A.   Sure.

 12       Q.   You make the comment here, "same approximate

 13   area."

 14       A.   Yes, sir.

 15       Q.   What are you talking about?  What area?  Is it

 16   the whole property or is it just in the Grand Lux

 17   rotunda?  Where is it?

 18       A.   Within the Grand Lux area, based on what I

 19   reviewed in the details of each recorded incident.

 20       Q.   So you're -- I'm sorry.  You say, "The details

 21   of each recorded incident."

 22            Tell me what the spreadsheet looks like.

 23       A.   Well, a spreadsheet is a typical spreadsheet.

 24   It starts at a certain date and month, year.  It

 25   specifies a location.  It shows a slip-and-fall and it
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  1   just continues on like that within that same general

  2   location.  That's how it was arranged as a spreadsheet.

  3       Q.   Okay.  So did it identify people by name?

  4       A.   That, I don't recall.  I think it was more

  5   event oriented, but it could have.

  6       Q.   Would it have included Lobby 1, Lobby 2, Lobby

  7   3, that kind of information?

  8       A.   Yes, sir, I believe it did.

  9       Q.   Would it have included areas like the Grand

 10   Hall, the front desk, the porte-cochère?

 11       A.   No.  It was simply addressed to the marble

 12   flooring, and as I recall, the vast majority were in the

 13   same general areas as Plaintiff's fall.  I would have to

 14   pull the spreadsheet out to refresh my memory.

 15       Q.   Would you consider the Carol Smith fall to be

 16   in the same general area as Plaintiff's fall?

 17       A.   Yes, sir.

 18       Q.   So in your opinion, at least, based on your

 19   testimony, so I understand, when you say "same

 20   approximate area," the area where Carol Smith fell would

 21   be within this Grand Lux rotunda area?

 22       A.   Yes, sir.

 23       Q.   Okay.  So you're saying, then, as I understand

 24   it, you received information from Mr. Galliher that

 25   there were 196 slip-and-fall events between January 1st,
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  1   2012, and August 5th, 2016, occurring in the vicinity of

  2   the Grand Lux rotunda?

  3       A.   Essentially that's correct, yes, sir.

  4       Q.   Okay.  So I'm clear, do you know where the

  5   Grand Hall is, the entryway to the property?

  6       A.   To the property, yes, sir.

  7       Q.   So when you enter the property, there's a

  8   fountain, there's the front desk --

  9       A.   Yes, sir.

 10       Q.   -- there's a concierge desk to the right, and

 11   then if you go to the left as you enter, there's a huge

 12   grand hall with paintings on the ceiling.

 13       A.   There is, sir.

 14       Q.   Right?

 15       A.   Yep.

 16       Q.   All right.  So when you say "same approximate

 17   area," if there were slip-and-falls there, they would be

 18   separate from the 196 slip-and-falls.

 19            Would that be right?

 20       A.   I believe that's accurate.

 21       Q.   And if somebody slipped and fell somewhere in

 22   the front desk area, that would not be part of this

 23   196 --

 24       A.   I believe --

 25       Q.   -- number?
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  1       A.   I believe that's accurate, yes, sir.

  2       Q.   And if somebody slipped and fell at the Palazzo

  3   on a marble floor, that's not part of the 196?

  4       A.   That would be correct.

  5       Q.   And if somebody slipped and fell at a

  6   convention area on a marble floor, that would not be

  7   part of the 196?

  8       A.   As I recall.  I'm going back on memory reading

  9   line after line.  I believe that would be correct.

 10       Q.   Okay.  Did you ask Mr. Galliher where he got

 11   this information?

 12       A.   No, sir.  He said it was just provided to him

 13   under discovery and that was it.

 14       Q.   Okay.  Are they numbered 1 through 96?

 15       A.   No.  They're by date.  I think I testified to

 16   that to start with.  You have to start out with the date

 17   and then work your way out.

 18       Q.   Did you count them?

 19       A.   Yes, I did.

 20       Q.   Okay.  So this is something you counted?

 21       A.   Yes, sir.

 22       Q.   All right.  And did you see -- did you notice

 23   that all of these 196 slip-and-fall events, did they

 24   occur due to foreign substances on the floor?

 25       A.   Mostly that was the case, yes, sir.  As I
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  1   recall, they were all due to liquid contaminants.

  2       Q.   Okay.  No trip-and-falls, nobody fainting, no

  3   drunks, you know, swaying and falling to the floor that

  4   you can recall?

  5       A.   No, sir.

  6       Q.   And that's something that if you still have it,

  7   you will produce?

  8       A.   Yes, sir.

  9       Q.   When is the last time that you looked at that?

 10       A.   It would have been about a month ago prior to

 11   preparing the rebuttal report.

 12       Q.   All right.  So you would have received it,

 13   what, about five to six weeks ago?

 14       A.   That's fair.

 15       Q.   Okay.  Why would you think it would be erased?

 16       A.   Well, I have an auto-erase on my computer that

 17   after a certain period of time, the e-mails are

 18   discarded.

 19       Q.   What's it set for?

 20       A.   Usually 30 days.

 21       Q.   Okay.  Is there any other information that

 22   Mr. Galliher's provided you with that you think may have

 23   been erased by your auto-erase?

 24       A.   No, sir.

 25       Q.   Is there any other information that you've been
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Pursuant to NRCP 16.3, Plaintiff JOYCE SEKERA submits her Response to Defendant’s 

Limited Objection to Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendations from December 2, 

2019. 

DATED this 23rd day of December 2019. 

 

CLAGGETT & SYKES LAW FIRM 

 

 /s/ Geordan G. Logan 

 Sean K. Claggett, Esq. 

 Nevada Bar No. 008407 

 William T. Sykes, Esq.  

 Nevada Bar No. 009916 

 Geordan G. Logan, Esq. 

 Nevada Bar No. 013910 

 4101 Meadows Lane, Suite 100 

 Las Vegas, Nevada 89107 

 (702) 655-2346 – Telephone 

 

 Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.  

 Nevada Bar No. 220 

 Jeffrey L. Galliher, Esq. 

 Nevada Bar No. 8078 

 Kathleen H. Gallagher, Esq. 

 Nevada Bar No. 15043 

 THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM 

 1850 East Sahara Avenue, Suite 107 

 Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 

 (702) 735-0049 – Telephone 

 (702) 735-0204 – Facsimile 

 Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES  

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

On August 5, 2019, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel Testimony and Documents, and on the 

same day, Defendants filed a Motion for Protective Order as to Plaintiff’s Request for Production of 

Incident Reports from May 1999 to Present. The Discovery Commissioner heard these matters on 

September 18, 2019. On December 16, 2019, both Plaintiff and Defendant filed objections in response 

to the Discovery Commissioner’s recommendations regarding discoverable material. Defendant made 
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two objections to the Discovery Commissioner’s recommendations. Defendant objects to producing 

records of prior similar incidents outside of the Grand Lux Rotunda and also objects to producing 

records of similar incidents from the date of the subject incident forward to the present.  

It should be noted that Plaintiff’s Objection to Discovery Commissioner’s Report and 

Recommendations Dated December 2, 2019 was filed on December 16, 2019, and the arguments 

presented there are fully incorporated in Plaintiff’s Response to Defendant’s Limited Objection to 

Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendations Dated December 2, 2019. 

II. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Plaintiff opposes Venetian’s objection in its entirety. Venetian’s reluctance to produce 

documents is little more than a calculated attempt to frustrate the Plaintiff and subvert this Court. 

Generally, a party “may obtain discovery regarding any . . . matter that is relevant to any party’s claims 

or defenses and proportional to the needs of the case.”1 The Nevada rule on scope of discovery is 

modeled after the Federal rule, and federal interpretations are considered strongly persuasive.2 

Documents may be considered relevant for discovery purposes even if they will be inadmissible as 

not relevant for evidentiary purposes.3  

Accordingly, Plaintiff argues that Venetian should produce reports of all similar incidents 

occurring on all marble flooring in public areas of the Venetian’s premises. The marble flooring 

extends well beyond the arbitrarily defined borders encircling the Grand Lux Rotunda, and the marble 

on one side of the border does not lose its dangerous nature simply by virtue of its location. 

Furthermore, the extent of Venetian’s knowledge as to the dangerous quality of its marble floors arises 

from its experiences with the marble flooring throughout the Venetian. This extensive knowledge is 

central to this case. What is more, reports should be produced up to the present because Plaintiff 

alleges that the floors are a dangerous condition. 

                                                 
1 NRCP 26(b)(1). 

2 See Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1); Exec. Mgmt. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co., 118 Nev. 46, 53, 38 P.3d 872, 

876 (2002). 

3 Renfrow v. Redwood Fire & Cas. Ins. Co., 288 F.R.D. 514, 521 (D. Nev. 2013). 
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A. DEFENDANT’S PRODUCTION OF INCIDENT REPORTS MUST NOT BE CONFINED 

TO THE GRAND LUX ROTUNDA BECAUSE THE ADDITIONAL REPORTS 

ESTABLISH DEFENDANT’S FULL KNOWLEDGE OF THE DANGEROUS 

CONDITION OF ITS MARBLE FLOORING.  

Venetian cites Eldorado Club, Inc. v. Graff for the proposition that requesting prior incidents 

in areas outside of the Grand Lux Rotunda is “overly broad and unnecessary.”4 Venetian misconstrues 

the holding in Eldorado Club. The issue there was whether it was an error to allow testimonial evidence 

at trial.5 Furthermore, the hazard in Eldorado Club was the uncommon presence of a lettuce leaf on a 

loading ramp.6 Here, Plaintiff alleges the hazard is a marble floor which becomes unreasonably and 

unnecessarily dangerous when it is wet, and as a result, people routinely slip and fall and injure 

themselves on the wet marble floor. Yet, even knowing of this dangerous condition, the Venetian 

persists in maintaining its marble floors in the same manner that it always has—indifferent to the 

floor’s dangerous nature. It is Plaintiff’s position that a reasonable property owner would either put in 

place policies and procedures to eliminate the hazard or change the floors so that they would be safe 

for the foreseeable capacity and type of traffic consistently navigating the property. 

Plaintiff needs access to incident reports beyond the narrowly defined area of the Grand Lux 

Rotunda because the full extent of Venetian’s knowledge of the dangerous condition of its polished 

marble flooring is a central issue in this case. Plaintiff needs incident reports of the slip and fall 

incidents which occurred on all marble floors in Venetian’s public areas because Plaintiff needs to 

know what level of notice Venetian had with regard to the dangerous nature of its marble flooring. By 

limiting discovery to only one narrow area of the casino, the extent of Venetian’s knowledge of its 

dangerous marble flooring would be confined to an illogical area near the subject incident. This 

arbitrary boundary presumes marble flooring within the boundary has dissimilar properties when wet 

than marble flooring outside the boundary. Consequently, this arbitrary boundary does not allow 

Plaintiff or the court to consider the full extent to which Venetian was aware of the danger created by 

either its choice of flooring or its policies and procedures to maintain the marble floors.  

                                                 
4 Def.’s Objection, p. 11:2–8. 

5 Eldorado Club v. Graff, 78 Nev. 507, 509, 377 P.2d 174, 175 (1962). 

6 Id.  
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Therefore, given the strong public policy of this State,7 the Ninth Circuit,8 and the United 

States Supreme Court9 to hear cases on their merits, this Court should compel production of records 

of similar incidents occurring on the Venetian’s premises in public areas with marble flooring.  

B. DEFENDANT’S PRODUCTIONS MUST EXTEND TO THE PRESENT BECAUSE 

PLAINTIFF ALLEGES THAT THE MARBLE FLOORS ARE A DANGEROUS 

CONDITION.  

Plaintiff should have access to incident reports through the present because Plaintiff alleges 

that the polished marble floors at Venetian are a dangerous condition. The Nevada Supreme Court has 

held that evidence of subsequent similar incidents may be admissible in premise liability cases when 

that evidence shows the existence of a dangerous defective condition.10 While past incident reports 

establish a property owner’s knowledge of the hazard, subsequent incidents can be used to show the 

existence of a defective and dangerous condition.11 Plaintiff alleges that the marble flooring at 

Venetian presents a dangerous condition. She will need subsequent similar incidents to prove the 

extent and nature of the dangerous condition.  

In its objection, Venetian makes a point of emphasizing Plaintiff’s status as a “pseudo-

employee” who walked the area “many hundreds of times without incident” until the day she slipped 

and fell on the wet marble floor.12 Venetian seemingly argues that Plaintiff’s good luck in not having 

previously encountered a slick marble floor at the Venetian somehow demonstrates that Venetian’s 

marble flooring is not a hazard. The subsequent incident reports for the slip and falls occurring on the 

marble flooring in Venetian’s public areas will likely refute Venetian’s claim that one person’s good 

                                                 
7 See, e.g., Yochum v. Davis, 98 Nev. 484, 487, 653 P.2d 1215, 1217 (1982) (noting the strong public 

policy favoring resolution of disputes on their merits). 

8 See, e.g., Allen v. Bayer Corp., 460 F.3d 1217, 1248 (9th Cir. Wash. 2006) (recognizing the public 

policy in favor of deciding disputes on the merits). 

9 See, e.g., Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 181–82 (1962) (stating that it is “entirely contrary to the 

spirit of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for decisions on the merits to be avoided on the basis of 

mere technicalities”). 

10 Reingold v. Wet 'n Wild Nev., Inc., 113 Nev. 967, 969–70, 944 P.2d 800, 802 (1997) overruled on 

other grounds by Bass-Davis v. Davis, 122 Nev. 442, 454, 134 P.3d 103, 110 (2006). 

11 Id. (citing Ginnis v. Mapes Hotel Corp., 86 Nev. 408, 415, 470 P.2d 135, 139 (1970)). 

12 Def.’s Objection, p. 7:12–18. 
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luck in traversing Venetian’s marble floor without injury establishes that the Venetian’s marble 

flooring is not dangerous.  

Furthermore, the scope of discovery in Nevada is broader than the standard for admissibility 

at trial.13 Therefore the production of subsequent incident reports recommended by the Discovery 

Commissioner is reasonable and likely to produce admissible evidence to the extent that it shows the 

dangerous condition of the marble flooring at Venetian.  

III. 

CONCLUSION 

Based upon the foregoing, Plaintiff requests that the Court deny Defendant’s Limited 

Objection to Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendations.  

DATED THIS 23rd day of December 2019.  

 

CLAGGETT & SYKES LAW FIRM 

 

 /s/ Geordan G. Logan 

 Sean K. Claggett, Esq. 

 Nevada Bar No. 008407 

 William T. Sykes, Esq.  

 Nevada Bar No. 009916 

 Geordan G. Logan, Esq. 

 Nevada Bar No. 013910 

 4101 Meadows Lane, Suite 100 

 Las Vegas, Nevada 89107 

 (702) 655-2346 – Telephone 

 

 Keith E. Galliher, Jr., Esq.  

 Nevada Bar No. 220 

 Kathleen H. Gallagher, Esq. 

 Nevada Bar No. 15043 

 THE GALLIHER LAW FIRM 

 1850 East Sahara Avenue, Suite 107 

 Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 

 (702) 735-0049 – Telephone 

 Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

  

                                                 
13 Renfrow v. Redwood Fire & Cas. Ins. Co., 288 F.R.D. 514, 521 (D. Nev. 2013). 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 23rd day of December 2019, I caused a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S LIMITED OBJECTION TO 

DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER’S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS DATED 

DECEMBER 2, 2019 on the following person(s) by the following method(s) pursuant to NRCP 5(b): 

 

Via E-Service 

Michael A. Royal, Esq. 

Gregory A. Miles, Esq. 

Royal & Miles LLP 

1522 W. Warm Springs Road 

Henderson, Nevada 89014 

Attorney for Defendants 

 

 

 

 CLAGGETT & SYKES LAW FIRM 

 

 /s/ Maria Alvarez 

 An Employee of CLAGGETT & SYKES LAW FIRM 
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TRAN

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JOYCE SEKERA, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

vs. ) Case No. A-18-772761-C
) Dept. No. 25

VENETIAN CASINO RESORT,)
LLC, ET AL, )

)
  Defendants.  )

OBJECTION TO DISCOVERY COMMISSIONER'S REPORT

Before the Honorable Kathleen Delaney

Tuesday, January 21, 2020, 9:00 a.m.

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings

REPORTED BY:

BILL NELSON, RMR, CCR #191
CERTIFIED COURT REPORTER
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APPEARANCES:

For the Plaintiff: William Sykes, Esq.
George Kunz, Esq.

For the Defendants: Michael Royal, Esq.
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Tuesday, January 21, 2020

* * * * *

THE COURT: Page 3, Sekera versus Venetian
Casino.

MR. SYKES: William Sykes for the

Plaintiff, and George Kunz.

MR. ROYAL: Mike Royal for the Defendants,

Your Honor.

THE COURT: Good morning, everybody.

Good to see you.

Thank you.

So I guess I just want to make sure I'm not

missing something, and there's not some confusion.

I just realized I probably should have

called another matter.

The Discovery Commissioner's report

recommendation has been disputed in some degree by

both sides, and the concern's over the limitations

placed on it on by both counsel on the discovery, and

some limitations placed on the protection.

So we need to unpack that and kind of

figure out where the dust is going to lay on that.

Obviously the easiest thing would be, you

know the Discovery Commissioner did her job all good,

especially in this case, but when it comes to these

VEN 2619
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type of things, these sort of nuances, it helps to

have a complete record.

I do think it helps to have an opportunity

to be heard from counsel where their concerns were.

But what is happening on the stay side on

the appeals, or the appeals side?

MR. ROYAL: Your Honor, everything has been

submitted, been briefed, and the Court of Appeals is

still considering the issue related to discovery.

THE COURT: No indication of the oral

argument or anything like that?

MR. SYKES: Not at this time.

THE COURT: So I should know this answer.

But you don't perceive that has any affect

on this, and everything else is going forward?

Because I -- just there was some --

obviously what you're challenging is some overlapping

with this.

MR. ROYAL: We certainly think that at

least some of the issues at play here definitely are

bootstrapping to what we have there.

THE COURT: That was my concern because as

I went through the pleadings, as very thorough now as

they are in this case, very thorough, I didn't really

see a lot of acknowledgment like, oops, we want to

VEN 2620
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wait on this because the stay's out there, and we

have all the arguments about why we shouldn't be more

than five years, or should be less than five years,

or shouldn't go forward in time, and all of those

nuances, but I didn't really see how this might be

impacted.

Of course I have no insight as to whether

the Appellate Courts might do anything. It would be

nice if we had some idea, but we have no idea.

MR. SYKES: Your Honor, with regard to

that, I think the main issue that is up on the writ

in front of Court of Appeals is whether or not the

reports are going to be redacted or not is one of the

primary issues.

THE COURT: But the Discovery Commissioner

Truman did order unredacted here in response to some

of these things.

So would your agreement be to provide them

redacted, until it can be decided, or allow them to

be -- I guess I'm looking at you -- but allow them to

be provided redacted until decided, or hold off on

that piece?

That's my concern.

MR. SYKES: It's my understanding, and

counsel can correct me if I'm wrong, but there's no

VEN 2621
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real dispute as to producing unredacted reports, at

least some have already been produced, and I think

there is a dispute as to whether or not the reports

should be provided subsequent to this incident, that

is going to be a big issue.

I think we can address that today.

I don't know that we need to wait for the

Court of Appeals to rule on the redaction issue.

MR. ROYAL: Your Honor, if I can respond to

that.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. ROYAL: We do not agree that we should

produce documents in an unredacted form.

And the other issue before the Court of

Appeals is, whether or not they should be protected.

So if we were to -- What the Discovery

Commissioner essentially recommended is, that we

produce unredacted reports for over a period of eight

years, which would include reports up to today in

unredacted form --

THE COURT: Right.

MR. ROYAL: -- and in an unprotected form.

So that they would have access to what

happened today, or what have you, and do what they

have done previously, which is share it with whoever

VEN 2622
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they want to share it with.

THE COURT: Here's the tricky part about

the protection.

I get what you're saying, counsel, but I

thought we had had a discussion about how that would

be -- that information would be utilized, but maybe

we didn't clarify our intent there, but if they get

redacted, they can't follow up with the people and

can't figure out what really happened in the cases,

and that is clearly part of the need for discovery.

If you are just giving them a date and a

brief synopsis, or whatever it is you're giving them,

and have no way to contact anybody because you have

no idea who these people are, it doesn't mean

anything to the Plaintiffs.

The Court did allow punitive damages to

remain, and these things are arguably relevant to

that.

So I mean that is why it was ordered to be

unredacted.

I don't know that when we previously

ordered it we anticipated it being fully unprotected,

but that's a different issue.

I guess my concern is, how do we do this?

One of the ways we could do this is, we
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could just make a decision on everything the

Discovery Commissioner ordered, and then to the

extent that you have a concern about how what we

ordered here today impacts what you're challenging,

you add that to what is up on appeal.

I mean, that is generally what happens,

right, you have your judgment, and that's challenged,

and then you get a ruling on the fees and costs and

retaxing of costs, and somebody doesn't like that

outcome, and then they go and consolidate it, and the

Court of Appeals deals with all of it, that almost

seems like that is how we should do it just to have

the cleanest record, because if I hold out, don't

rule on some things waiting to see what the Court of

Appeals does, and then I rule on other things, I

don't know in practical terms how that is going to

work anyway given one of the largest is the

redaction.

I can certainly make a determination on the

time scope, and certainly make a determination on

location of incident scope, that seems to also be in

dispute, whether it's limited to The Grand Lux area

or casino as well, and make those rulings, but I

think if we don't do the whole kit and caboodle, you

don't have what you're going to have anything further
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if you wish to based on the outcome to challenge, and

then we don't really have a full understanding from

the Court of Appeals either.

So the last thought on how we might

structure today -- or just wait -- but that doesn't

serve anybody's purposes I don't think.

You got to keep going forward with what

you're doing.

MR. ROYAL: I think, Your Honor, in light

of what we're both arguing for, I think the scope is

obviously the biggest issue.

MR. SYKES: Yes.

MR. ROYAL: And the Court may determine if

the Court -- depending on the Court's ruling today if

-- it may not, it may or may not impact the issues

that are presently before the Court of Appeals.

THE COURT: Right.

I think we should just go forward and make

a decision on all of what is before us today without

trying to carve out anything we think may be

implicated by a future determination by the Court of

Appeals, and if the outcome is such that you feel,

counsel, that it should be added to what is before

the Court of Appeals, then that would make sense to

me and make the cleanest record.
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So let's deal with all of it, and as I

said, I sort of generalized it as to this time scope,

and then the location scope, and that seems to be the

biggest arguments the Plaintiff raises, and then with

any further objections and response seems to be kind

of what we're focusing on.

So you do want to start, counsel?

MR. SYKES: Yes, Your Honor.

Just briefly, we thoroughly briefed this

issue, but out objection is fairly limited as to our

primary objection to the Discovery Commissioner's

report and recommendations is, she limits our ability

to obtain coefficient of friction testing to the

Grand Lux area, and there was also an issue of where

they removed carpet, intentionally put the slick

polished marble surface in this area, as well as

other areas throughout casino, and she limited that

to the Grand Lux area as well.

THE COURT: Let's hit the points as we go

along what is being argued in opposition to your

objection on that subject as pointed out by counsel.

Is there not some acknowledgment by the

experts that different areas have different testing

up to this point, and that it doesn't make sense to

go beyond the scope of the area where the incident

VEN 2626
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occurred?

MR. SYKES: Yeah, I wanted to clarify that

as well.

So the testimony, at least of our expert,

there's a representation that our expert said this

was a unique area.

Our expert didn't say that.

Our expert, what he said was, depending on

the area, the slip resistance could change depending

on different variables.

However, we would at least like the

opportunity to determine what type of flooring they

have throughout the Venetian. It's my understanding

it's all polished marble.

If they want to make a distinction that

it's not the same polished marble, has different slip

resistance characteristics, coefficient of friction

testing would prove or disprove that. I think it

would be fairly simple for our expert to go out, do

that testing, but it's my understanding the surfaces

throughout the Venetian, at least the marble

surfaces, if not identical, are substantially similar

to the point were similar enough where we could

consider slip-and-falls in those areas as well as

giving notice to the Venetian, but they had a
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hazardous condition, a continuous hazardous condition

on their premises, so that was the basis to our

objection of the Discovery Commissioner's ruling.

If they, the Venetian, wants to focus

specifically on the Grand Lux rotunda area, I think

there needs to be some type of showing the marble

flooring elsewhere is somehow different,

substantively different, with different slip

resistance values, and I don't mean within a

percentage point, I mean 20 percent different, 30

percent different, something like that, with a

substantial difference between the marble because

there's marble floors throughout, and I believe

slip-and-falls throughout the property would provide

notice to the Venetian that this polished marble

floor presents a continuous hazard, and a defective

condition on the premises.

THE COURT: Okay.

What about the timing?

It is a little hard for at first blush to

take a look at this and say, there's any relevance to

what occurred subsequent.

If your argument is when this incident

occurred, they were on notice that this was a

problem, they had been arguably from your perspective
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were not acknowledging, not dealing with what they

needed to see as a recurring problem, how would what

occurred subsequent have anything to do with that

argument?

MR. SYKES: Yes, to address that question

there's three main issues that go to that issue.

First, the reason why it's relevant, it's a

continuous hazard and a defective condition on the

premises, and there were slip-and-falls occurring

subsequent to our client's slip-and-fall would tend

to prove that -- or show it's an ongoing hazard, a

continuous hazard, and a defective condition on the

premises. So there's that.

Second, it goes to punitive damages as to

the reprehensibility of the conduct of the Venetian.

If the Venetian is continuing to allow the

dangerous condition to exist, and people are

continuing to fall, slip-and-fall on the premises and

get injured, and be taken away in an ambulance, or at

least report injuries to the EMTs, I think that goes

to the reprehensibility of the Venetian's conduct,

and we provided case law in support of that in the

brief.

THE COURT: Now, were you also asking to go

further back in time since five years prior to the
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incident?

MR. SYKES: We were.

And the reason for that is, that we did

have some testimony from employees of the Venetian,

one former EMT said they responded to 150 and 175

falls, and that started in 2008.

Then there was evidence that the floor was

changed from carpet to marble I think as early as

2013, maybe a little later than that, and it's my

understanding that the slip-and-falls, the amount of

slip-and-falls significantly increased, and the

Venetian did nothing to fix it, so that was our

client's, our concern with that particular issue as

well.

THE COURT: Okay.

Anything else you want to highlight?

MR. SYKES: Yes.

The third point, I don't know to the extent

this was addressed in the briefing, but I wanted to

bring it up, the Venetian seems to have an

affirmative defense in this case, Judge, that our

client walked through this area hundreds of times

before she slipped and fell and never had a problem,

and therefore the floor is safe. That is kind of the

argument they are making, even include it -- they
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reference it a couple times in their briefing.

We should be allowed to rebut that argument

and rebut that affirmative defense, and bring up the

totality of the falls, not only from before the

incident, but after the incident, and show there's a

pattern here, a trend here, of people slipping and

falling throughout the casino floor, it wasn't just

my client just because she didn't -- or slipped once,

and in 200 steps, or whatever their argument is, it

doesn't mean other people didn't slip in that very

same area, or throughout the casino floor.

So it's our position they opened the door,

Judge.

If they are going to make that argument at

trial, they are going to argue we didn't have actual

notice, didn't have constructive notice -- and by the

way, the Plaintiffs walked through there hundreds of

times and didn't slip and fall before, therefore it's

safe.

We should be able to bring up the total

number of falls both before and after her incident

because they will try to make it sound like she

wasn't paying attention, she was being clumsy, and it

was just an isolated incident, where I think we can

demonstrate it's not an isolated incident, people
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slipped before and after, and we don't mean a couple,

hundreds before, and probably hundreds after.

THE COURT: Okay.

Counsel.

MR. ROYAL: The representations there was

an increase in slip-and-falls after some change in

flooring is completely unfounded.

I think what we have to remember is, that

the Plaintiff has testified, and we know she worked

at the property for almost a year prior to the

incident, and yes, she made probably more than a

thousand trips through this Grand Lux area

successfully, not only without slipping and falling

herself, but without ever seeing any kind of a

foreign substance on the floor, without seeing anyone

slip and fall, without hearing about any kind of

slip-and-falls, and yes, that is we certainly want to

bring that up.

We also want to bring up the fact that in

this particular case all 11 of the people who were

present at the scene after the incident -- or rather

of the 11 -- Let me say that again.

All 11 of the people present at the scene

have been deposed in this case. Of those 11, 10 have

verified -- or at least they verified they did not
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see anything on the floor.

There's one person who testified there was

something on the floor, and his testimony is

completely rebutted just by reviewing the video

evidence.

Now, as to some of these issues, I think

the fact is that the testimony that Plaintiff has

given is that she reported to her post daily, she

walked through this Grand Lux area back and forth at

least twice daily for hundreds of days prior to the

incident, that is the area in question.

There's no testimony that she was walking

up and down other areas of the property, and so that

particular information about other slip-and-falls in

other areas of the property is simply from our

position not relevant.

Also, the testimony of Tom Jennings in his

deposition in the Smith case he performed coefficient

of friction testing in an area which he said was

within 80 to 100 feet of the area where Miss Sekera

fell. His coefficient of friction testing was

different, and was significantly different.

He tested dry point 90, tested dry in the

area of 0.070, that is a significant difference, and

so he testified that -- I asked him what the
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differences would be, and he testified there is a lot

of them, it could be pedestrian traffic, could be how

the floors are cleaned, could be the shoes and so

forth that are worn, and he tested this area -- and

by the way this their expert has tested the area

where the Plaintiff fell, so where -- or where is it

going to get us from a relevancy standpoint for

expert testing in other areas outside The Grand Lux?

They are going to want testing done on the

10th floor, testing done in the front desk area,

testing done wherever, which is not anywhere near

where the Plaintiff at least testified she's been in

this case.

THE COURT: You brought up Mr. Jennings.

There were obviously a couple of aspects of the

Discovery Commissioner's report and recommendation

dealt with Mr. Jennings being able to be re-deposed,

getting additional information.

Is that in dispute here?

I didn't see that being disputed here.

MR. SYKES: Not necessarily, Judge.

And I think what it was, there's a number

of incident reports out there we have possession of,

some I believe they have possession of, additional

reports that have yet to be produced, and so I think
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what it was, was once those reports were produced,

that they would have an opportunity to depose Mr.

Jennings at least on those, that new information is

my understanding.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SYKES: I don't know if there's a

dispute as to that, but that's my understanding.

THE COURT: I didn't see that being really

referenced here.

MR. ROYAL: What is supposed to occur under

the Discovery Commissioner's report and

recommendation is, that the Plaintiff is supposed to

produce every single report that they gave -- that

they have in their possession, they've obtained,

we're supposed to get those, that is not in dispute,

there's no objection to that, and we haven't received

those yet.

MR. SYKES: That's correct.

MR. ROYAL: We're waiting to get those

before we take Mr. Jennings' deposition, but since

you brought up Mr. Jennings, he testified that in a

four year -- or four-and-a-half year period that

there were 196 incidents in The Grand Lux area, that

was his testimony.

Now we dispute that, but that's his
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testimony, and we don't have those documents yet, and

when we get those, we will retake his deposition, but

I think that goes to -- again, it goes to our

position that the scope should be limited to The

Grand Lux area, the scope of all the issues related

to the flooring in this case.

You know the Discovery Commissioner

actually initially limited the scope of the other

incident reports to The Grand Lux area, until she was

advised by counsel that in our initial disclosure we

produced some reports outside the area of the Grand

Lux, which we did as a courtesy to counsel.

We did not feel we had to do that the

second time around in this battle, and she changed

her mind, she essentially made a waiver kind of an

argument, well if you produce some stuff outside

before, now you have to produce another five years.

THE COURT: Okay.

Anything else you want to tell us?

MR. ROYAL: I'm sorry, Your Honor.

I just wanted to say, as far as the

subsequent incident reports, that is all based on the

Discovery Commissioner -- remember this is a

transient condition.

Now they keep using the word, defective.
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There's nothing defective about it for

millions of people that walked through the Venetian

that don't slip and fall. But that is what this is.

So the Discovery Commissioner indicated she

would not provide or order or recommend subsequent

incident reports under circumstances of a transient

condition such as what we have here.

The only reason she ordered that is because

of the fact there's a punitive damages claim the

Court has allowed to be filed, and I just, Your Honor

-- there's no -- at least I can't find any -- Nevada

Law that supports that.

THE COURT: Okay.

Anything else, counsel?

MR. SYKES: Yes, Your Honor.

Just as a reminder, this was something

addressed in prior motion practice, and was stated

the Plaintiff should be allowed to conduct discovery

to support the punitive damages claim.

Again, it goes back too reprehensibility of

conduct of the Venetian.

I don't understand why the Venetian is

attempting to hide these additional slip and fall

reports, it's quite concerning to me because it tends

to indicate to me that they have a lot more actual
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constructive notice than they are representing to the

Court and will represent to the jury if this goes to

a trial. I have a very strong concern with that.

If their question -- or issue is

admissibility, that is not the standard.

The standard is, whether it's proportional

and whether it's relevant to the case, and it most

certainly is, particularly with regard to their

argument our client walked through there hundreds of

times, and now they are saying thousands of times,

and didn't slip before, therefore the floor is safe.

If that's the argument, we should be

entitled to rebut that argument, know how many people

have slipped and fallen on the casino floor.

If they want to argue the slip resistance

is different, we can send experts out to do that

testing, it wouldn't be that difficult to perform,

and they can argue over whether or not it's similar

enough, and we can hash that out.

But this is a case where there was a

significant injury. The client is scheduled to have

a fusion surgery, she did have a spinal injury,

there's an indication she hit her head on a pillar

and did sustain significant injuries as a result of

this slip-and-fall, so it's not -- we're not arguing
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on a sprain/strain here, and at this point this is

information that needs to be provided, we need to

have the opportunity to rebut their argument.

Otherwise, we go into trial with one arm

behind our backs, they get to say our client walked

through the area thousands of time, but we don't get

to talk about all the slip-and-falls that happened.

So at a minimum it's discovery, whether or

not it comes down to being admissible, that depends

on what is ultimately discovered, so I think at a

minimum we should be entitled to at least see the

information.

If the Defendant's asking for some type of

protective order, that is something we can address,

but at a minimum we should be at least be able to see

the information, the slip-and-falls, and go from

there.

THE COURT: All right.

I want to make sure I address each of the

topics, so I'm going to tell you my thoughts, and if

I miss anything, you let me know, so we can get your

verification.

I do think that it's an error on the part

of the Discovery Commissioner to extend the

requirement for reports beyond the date of the
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incident in the case. I don't understand coming

forward to the present, I really don't.

I understand the argument that we're trying

to show that this was, or is, a defective condition,

that this is reprehensible conduct, but the reality

is your argument about that what was existing prior

to your client's incident, what occurred subsequent

to that I don't see being relevant, and think it

blows this thing up to a different proportion to

where we originally argued we were -- as far as all

of the instances occurred prior they had not

revealed, and arguably again I'm not saying these are

the findings made, but the arguments about all these

incidents prior to, they knew this condition and

should have corrected the condition before my client

fell and didn't do that, the subsequent you still get

where you need to go counsel for your client with

what the Discovery Commissioner or what was allowed

in terms of the five years prior to the incident, but

the additional up to the present, I think that is in

error, so the limitation will be to the date of the

incident and five years prior, as originally

determined by the Discovery Commissioner, and not

subsequent to that date.

To the extent that addresses any other
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issues with regard to the arguments about whether

testing should be produced, or the concern the

Discovery Commissioner granted protection, at least

so far as to the vagueness of the coefficient of

friction testing, I don't think that that is

necessary really to anything subsequent.

The only issue about -- the other issue of

scope, which is does it stay in The Grand Lux area,

or also implicates the casino, I think it stays in

the Grand Lux area, that is where the incident

occurred, where the situation is, I don't think they

need to prove the other areas are different.

The point is, you got a client fell in a

particular area, you got an argument there were lots

of other slip-and-falls in that area, it's not

addressed, it creates a condition for folks, it's

hazardous, and they knew about it, didn't fix it,

this case needs to be limited to that area, not the

other areas of the casino where they might have put

down carpet or similar marble.

I already -- I think it was the right thing

to do, so I'm not questioning that, but I already

allowed the scope of this case -- I think it is far

beyond what other folks might have allowed in the

sense of saying, yes, of course you can look at it,
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you got a punitive damages claim, you can look at all

of these other things in these reports and know they

shouldn't have to be redacted because you should be

able to contact these folks, find out what occurred

in those cases, but it's still a relevant time period

that you need to be looking at, and to me that is

when the incident occurred, and prior, and in the

area where the incident occurred.

So to the extent the Discovery Commissioner

determinations -- allows for discovery of anything

beyond the date of the incident, or outside of the

Grand Lux area, that will be reversed.

Whatever else the Discovery Commissioner

allowed to take place or ruled on should remain.

Do you need further clarification on that?

We can go one by one on the report and

recommendations.

I think it's understood once I find those

limitations what is impacted there.

MR. SYKES: They did produce slip-and-fall

reports occurred outside of the Grand Lux area

initially in this case.

Are we still allowed to reference those

areas?

In their initial disclosures they did
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disclose slip-and-falls on marble outside of the

Grand Lux area. Are we still allowed to conduct

discovery into those incidence?

THE COURT: To what end, counsel?

I'm not likely to revisit this issue, and

whether they produced those things or not, I don't

think it is a waiver to open the door because again

you are still under the umbrella of what is relevant.

If the Court made a determination the only

thing relevant is the Grand Lux area, whatever else

they produced is irrelevant, I don't see why you

should be able to conduct discovery in that area --

or why it would be have some utility to you they

produced documentation. I guess arguably you could

conduct discovery on whatever it is they produced to

you, but at this point seems to me that the Court's

determination here in dealing with this Discovery

Commissioner's report and recommendation is to say,

the relevant areas, and what is even calculated to

lead to relevant information is the Grand Lux area

only, and that time frame only. I don't see where

you get a benefit looking at the others.

If you're looking for me to have a ruling

that you can't do discovery on those things, show me

in the Discovery Commissioner's report and
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recommendation where that is addressed, and I can

tell you how I think that should be resolved, but

it's not addressed in there.

I know it was addressed in there as perhaps

some justification to allow the other discovery, but

I'm not allowing that now, but in terms of just

dealing with what already is produced, that may need

to be like subject to how you conduct your discovery

in the future in some requested protection in the

future.

I just want to keep this record clean by

dealing with the Discovery Commissioner's report and

recommendation, not okay, what does this mean to that

because that muddies the waters, I think.

MR. SYKES: One other question.

To the extent there's coefficient of

friction testing from another part of the casino

floor, that is substantially similar or identical to

that of the Grand Lux Cafe, are we allowed to conduct

discovery into that?

THE COURT: How would you have that?

You mean something they already produced

indicates they have done that testing?

Because at this point again if the Court's

saying the primary findings if you will is the Grand
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Lux area only, and time frame is incident prior only,

then would you be saying you would want to do

coefficient friction in these other areas as part of

your discovery, or have you already been provided

evidence that has occurred?

MR. SYKES: Probably a little bit of both.

I don't know the answer at this point in

time, but it's possible one of our expert may have

access to that information, I don't know, I'd have to

go ask.

And we would obviously like the opportunity

to conduct full coefficient of friction testing of

other parts of the casino to see if the floors are

identical or similar.

THE COURT: Let me give counsel an

opportunity to say anything you want to say.

MR. ROYAL: Your Honor, we produced --

Obviously I questioned Mr. Jennings about some prior

testing he did at the property that was close by the

Grand Lux, but it was technically outside it, but

beyond that we maybe produced maybe one other report

also from the Smith case, but that is all the

production we've done.

I should add that -- Strike that.

I won't add that.
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The only thing I would add is, as relates

to the two years beyond the five years, can I just

suggest that they be -- or we can produce those

timely to counsel, if they can be produced in

redacted form with a protective order, at least

temporarily until we get some kind of a ruling from

the Court of Appeals?

THE COURT: The way it's going to go is,

the time frame that was decided by the Discovery

Commissioner, which as I understand it was from the

incident, five years prior, but not the time frame

forward.

And it's unredacted is how the Court

ordered the stuff to go before, and it's I guess you

used the term unprotected, it's also that, and -- but

it's not the future, it's only from the incident

prior.

And I guess to eliminate any -- I guess to

try to continue to shape this properly, I will say,

no testing of any areas outside the Grand Lux dome

area that is irrelevant to this area where the

slip-and-fall occurred.

And I would say, no to conducting discovery

on what might have been produced related to that

area.
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Now the Court's making a determination for

clarification purposes. Its intent was the discovery

be to the area in question.

This idea that we're going to say, wait a

minute, they have now placed -- or might have the

same or some similar marble in other areas that

aren't implicated by this slip-and-fall is part of

the thing that stands out, counsel forms my decision,

there is a lot of the discussion about like, look,

you got fast food areas, and people can go get drinks

and are walking through here, and they are spilling

things, and you should know all of that, it's very

unique to this area that you are asking.

This idea now to go and say, we want to

look at marble in the casino, and marble other

places, and think it's the same, and would be the

same problem, and have issues, and they should have

known this, that it's relevant to this, it's too much

of a stretch.

I have already given you what you need to

have to show of that particular area and those

particular circumstances in that particular area why

on that particular day you argue it wasn't safe, it

was a condition that they should have known and had

fixed, and it's a problem because of the marble,
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because of spillage, because of whatever, and they

knew it because all these things occurred prior and

didn't fix it, but it's limited to that.

So I don't see any discovery being relevant

or appropriate to any marble areas outside that area,

and for any testing to take place to try to show

similarity to that marble outside that area.

MR. SYKES: One thing I wanted to clarify,

Judge, and I know it was represented in a brief our

expert said the Grand Lux was in the area, he did not

say that, one thing to keep in mind is that there's

no public area in the Venetian I'm aware of where

drinks are banned, it's my understanding drinks are

served on the casino floor, drinks are served at the

tables --

THE COURT: I get all that.

MR. SYKES: -- throughout.

THE COURT: But that is not the point,

counsel.

I understand what you want to do, but I

have to have some semblance of structure on this

thing, and this is not a discovery on the entire

Venetian Casino where they might have marble.

This is a discovery of an area of the

Venetian Hotel where a slip-and-fall occurred, and
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your concerns about that period, because whether or

not drinks are served elsewhere, and whether or not

there might be similar marble elsewhere, it's the

confluence of all of the things unique to that area

that matter, not all these other areas.

So I really do think that is a sufficient

explanation, goes far beyond the scope of what is

necessary, and I think you have more than enough

information looking at the five years prior, and in

that area, and the unredacted to be able to go and do

follow-up with those people to see what that is to

try to prove your theory of the case, and I think

otherwise it keeps it to a reasonable limitation.

This idea of there's marble other places in

the Venetian, and there might have been

slip-and-falls other places in the Venetian, and

might be drinks served other places, that is really

neither here nor there for this incident, and what

occurred related to this incident, and where it

occurred.

I have to reign it in now for everybody.

MR. SYKES: With regard to the two years, I

think the missing reports counsel was mentioning at

this point, we would agree to accept the unredacted

copies, be willing not to produce those outside of
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the case, until we get a ruling from the Court of

Appeals.

THE COURT: I think that seems fair.

You can write that up in your order.

I'm going to -- because I mean, I know both

sides sort of objected, but I guess at this point

I'll put the burden on Plaintiffs to let Mr. Royal

have a chance to see the order obviously, an add

anything, the reports for the missing time frame that

need to be produced unredacted, at least until the

Court of Appeals makes a ruling in your case.

Anything else?

MR. ROYAL: Yeah.

Could we just redact them and produce them

as they were previously if that's our stipulation?

That way I won't have to ask the Court for

a stay and file something --

THE COURT: No.

I understand why you want to redact them,

but that is not the ruling in the case, and until the

Court of Appeals Court says so, it's not the ruling

in the case, and if that's what they say, that's what

they say, I'll live with that, but they need to get

it, this case needs to move forward.

And if they are not going to go outside the
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case, your bigger concern is they are sharing with

other members of the Plaintiff's bar they are not

going to do that, that will be written in the order,

so it needs to be provided.

MR. ROYAL: I just want to for the record

ask the Court if we could get like a brief stay from

the order allowing us to bring this up --

THE COURT: It's going to take a while for

the order to be printed, and I want it in ten days,

you got basically ten days, it's not going to take a

long time, you have written very voluminous

briefings, got a good staff there, know what to do.

If you want to try to dispute it, you can

put something together, so the second it's signed you

can take something up.

The Court of Appeals already granted the

stay related to that stuff.

If you're adding more to it, I'm sure they

will do the same thing, but you can put in if you

want in the order the Court declined your oral

request for a stay at this time, so it already shows

because I think that is how Rule 8 or 9, whichever

one it is that sort of says, you don't have to come

back to the District Court and ask for the stay if

there's a futile issue, and it would be basically
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futile, you can go get it from them.

Okay. I think we got what we need.

MR. ROYAL: Thank you.

THE COURT: If there are any disputes about

the order, send me your competing letter, and we'll

take care of it.

MR. SYKES: Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT: Thank you.

(Proceedings concluded.)
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